Public Document Pack

" monmouthshire
W sir fynwy
Neuadd y Sir
Y Rhadyr
Brynbuga
NP15 1GA

Date Not Specified

Hysbysiad o gyfarfod:

Fforwm Mynediad Lleol

Dydd Mercher, 11eg Chwefror, 2026 at 12.30 pm,
Council Chamber, County Hall, The Rhadyr USK

AGENDA
Eitem Eitem Tudalennau
No
1. Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb/Cyflwyniadau
2. Datganiadau o Fuddiant
3. Cadarnhau a llofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod Fforwm Mynediad Lleol 1-4

Sir Fynwy ar 9fed Medi 2025 (wedi eu hatodi)

4. Camau gweithredu yn deillio o'r cyfarfod blaenorol nad ydynt ar yr
agenda:

Grwp Llywio Wentwood

5. Diweddariad gan Reolwyr, Cyngor Sir Fynwy, | ystyried adnoddau 5-10
ar gyfer mynediad i gefn gwlad (Colette Bosley, Rheolwr Cefn
Gwlad, Cyrchfannau, Amgylchedd.)

6. Llwybrau Olwyn a Lluniau Coed Parc Cas-gwent - | ystyried
gwelliannau mynediad i bobl anabl sy'n defnyddio llwybrau olwyn
yn Nyffryn Gwy, llwybrau lluniau i'w hyrwyddo, is-grwp Fforwm
Mynediad Lleol ac a ddylid ystyried ehangu ar draws y sir? (Ruth
Waycott, Tim Tirwedd Genedlaethol Dyffryn Gwy/ CNC Sara Tindal)

7. Prosiect Traciau a Llwybrau: Derbyn y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am
gynnydd ac ystyried camau gweithredu sy'n deillio o'r gweithdy
(Diweddariad i'r is-grwp gan Andrew Blake neu Celyn Davies)

8. Diweddariad Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru er gwybodaeth (Sarah Tindal, 11-12
Uwch Swyddog Pobl a Lleoedd, De-ddwyrain Cymru / Bob
Campbell Uwch Swyddog Rheoli Tir, De-ddwyrain Cymru)




9. Cwestiynau cyfraniad ysgrifenedig FfMLI. 13-34

10. | Dyddiadau ac amser y cyfarfodydd a'r lleoliadau nesaf

Paul Matthews
Prif Weithredwr



CYNGOR SIR FYNWY
MAE CYFANSODDIAD Y PWYLLGOR FEL SY'N DILYN:

Anne Underwood
Irene Brooke
Anthea Fairey
Shan Lewis

Phil Mundell

Phillip Allsopp
Bethany Handley
Barbara Heys

lan Mawdsley
Terence Mead
Sallie Roderick
Jack Thurston
Kelvin Varney

Huw Watkins

Rhys Wynne-Jones
John Askew
County Councillors: Sara Burch

Gwybodaeth Gyhoeddus

Mynediad i gopiau papur o agendau ac adroddiadau

Gellir darparu copi o'r agenda hwn ac adroddiadau perthnasol i aelodau'r cyhoedd sy'n
mynychu cyfarfod drwy ofyn am gopi gan Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ar 01633 644219.
Dylid nodi fod yn rhaid i ni dderbyn 24 awr o hyshysiad cyn y cyfarfod er mwyn darparu
copi caled o'r agenda hwn i chi.

Edrych ar y cyfarfod ar-lein

Gellir gweld y cyfarfod ar-lein yn fyw neu'n diyn y cyfarfod drwy fynd i
www.monmouthshire.gov.uk neu drwy ymweld &'n tudalen Youtube drwy chwilio am
MonmouthshireCC. Drwy fynd i mewn i'r ystafell gyfarfod, fel aelod o'r cyhoedd neu i
gymryd rhan yn y cyfarfod, rydych yn caniatau i gael eich ffilmio ac i ddefnydd posibl y
delweddau a'r recordiadau sain hynny gan y Cyngor.

Y Gymraeg

Mae'r Cyngor yn croesawu cyfraniadau gan aelodau'r cyhoedd trwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg neu'r
Saesneg. Gofynnwn yn barchus i chi roi rhybudd digonol i ni er mwyn darparu ar gyfer eich
anghenion.


http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/

Nodau a Gwerthoedd Cyngor Sir Fynwy

Ein Pwrpas

e iddod yn sir ddi-garbon, gan gefnogi lles, iechyd ac urddas i bawb ar bob cam
o'u bywydau.

Amcanion rydym yn gweithio tuag atynt

e Lle tegifyw lle mae effeithiau anghydraddoldeb a thlodi wedi'u lleihau;

e Lle gwyrdd i fyw a gweithio gyda llai o allyriadau carbon a gwneud cyfraniad
cadarnhaol at fynd i'r afael a'r argyfwng yn yr hinsawdd a natur;

e Lle ffyniannus ac uchelgeisiol, lle mae canol trefi bywiog a lle gall busnesau dyfu
a datblygu;

e Lle diogel i fyw lle mae gan bobl gartref maen nhw'n teimlo'n ddiogel ynddo;

e Lle cysylltiedig lle mae pobl yn teimlo'n rhan o gymuned ac yn cael eu
gwerthfawrogi;

e Lle dysgu lle mae pawb yn cael cyfle i gyrraedd eu potensial.

Ein Gwerthoedd

Bod yn agored. Rydym yn agored ac yn onest. Mae pobl yn cael cyfle i gymryd rhan mewn
penderfyniadau sy'n effeithio arnynt, dweud beth sy'n bwysig iddynt a gwneud pethau drostynt eu
hunain/eu cymunedau. Os na allwn wneud rhywbeth i helpu, byddwn yn dweud hynny; os bydd yn
cymryd peth amser i gael yr ateb, byddwn yn esbonio pam; os na allwn ateb yn syth, byddwn yn
ceisio eich cysylltu gyda'r bobl a all helpu - mae adeiladu ymddiriedaeth ac ymgysylltu yn sylfaen
allweddol.

Tegwch. Darparwn gyfleoedd teg, i helpu pobl a chymunedau i ffynnu. Os nad yw rhywbeth yn
ymddangos yn deg, byddwn yn gwrando ac yn esbonio pam. Byddwn bob amser yn ceisio trin
pawb yn deg ac yn gyson. Ni allwn wneud pawb yn hapus bob amser, ond byddwn yn ymrwymo i
wrando ac esbonio pam y gwnaethom weithredu fel y gwnaethom.

Hyblygrwydd. Byddwn yn parhau i newid a bod yn hyblyg i alluogi cyflwyno'r gwasanaethau
mwyaf effeithlon ac effeithiol. Mae hyn yn golygu ymrwymiad gwirioneddol i weithio gyda phawb i
groesawu ffyrdd newydd o weithio.

Gwaith Tim. Byddwn yn gweithio gyda chi a'n partneriaid i gefnogi ac ysbrydoli pawb i gymryd
rhan fel y gallwn gyflawni pethau gwych gyda'n gilydd. Nid ydym yn gweld ein hunain fel ‘trefnwyr’
neu ddatryswyr problemau, ond gwnawn y gorau o syniadau, asedau ac adnoddau sydd ar gael i
wneud yn siwr ein bod yn gwneud y pethau sy'n cael yr effaith mwyaf cadarnhaol ar ein pobl a
lleoedd.

Caredigrwydd — Byddwn yn dangos caredigrwydd i bawb yr ydym yn gweithio gyda nhw, gan roi
pwysigrwydd perthnasoedd a’r cysylltiadau sydd gennym &’n gilydd wrth wraidd pob rhyngweithio.



Cylch Gorchwyl

Fforwm Mynediad Lleol Sir Fynwy yw'r Fforwm Mynediad Lleol statudol ar gyfer Sir Fynwy (ac
eithrio y rhan o’r sir sy’n eistedd ym Mharc Cenedlaethol Bannau Brycheiniog), yn unol &’r hyn
sy’n ofynnol o dan y Ddeddf Cefn Gwlad a Hawliau Tramwy 2000.

Swyddogaeth y Fforwm yw cynghori't awdurdod lleol, Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru ac eraill ar y
gwelliannau i fynediad y cyhoedd i dir yn yr ardal at ddibenion hamdden yn yr awyr agored a
mwynhad o’r ardal, a chynghori a chynorthwyo o ran rhoi'r Cynllun Gwella Hawliau Tramwy
Cyhoeddus ar waith.

Aelodaeth

Caiff aelodau’r Fforwm eu penodi gan yr Awdurdod Penodi (Cyngor Sir Fynwy) yn unol &’r
rheoliadau perthnasol. Mae aelodaeth y fforwm ar hyn o bryd fel a ganlyn:

(cynrychiolydd yr “Awdurdod Penodi”)
Sylwedyddion:

Cynrychiolwyr o Gyngor Sir Fynwy a Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru
Anne Underwood

Irene Brooke

Anthea Fairey

Shan Lewis

Phil Mundell

Phillip Allsopp

Bethany Handley

Barbara Heys

lan Mawdsley

Terence Mead

Sallie Roderick

Jack Thurston

Kelvin Varney

Huw Watkins

Rhys Wynne-Jones

John Askew

County Councillors: Sara Burch (the “Appointing Authority” representative)



Observers;

Representatives from Monmouthshire County Council and Natural Resources Wales



Public Document Pack Agenda Iltem 3

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of Local Access Forum held
at Shire Hall - Monmouth on Tuesday, 9th September, 2025 at 2.00 pm

PRESENT: AntheaFairey,
Phil Allsopp,
Barbara Heys,
lan Mawdsley,
Phil Mundell,
Anne Underwood
Kelvin Varney

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE:

Richard Garner Public Right of Way Officer

Richard Ray Paralegal

Ruth Rourke Countryside Access Manager

Rob Stanyer Active Travel Project Officer

ALSO PRESENT: Bob Campbell, Natural Resources Wales

Sarah Tindal, Natural Resources Wales
One Member of the Public

APOLOGIES AND WELCOME:

Bethany Handley, Irene Brooke, John Askew, Anthony Easson, Sallie Roderick and
Huw Watkins.

LAF meeting opened with RG going through general housekeeping

1. Declarations of Interest

None received.

2. To confirm and sign the minutes of the Monmouthshire Local Access Forum meeting
of 5th May 2025.

The minutes of the meeting 13th May 2025 were accepted,
Proposer: BH, Seconded: KV.

3. Actions arising from the previous meeting not on the agenda:

Additional LAF member recruitment
RG updated the LAF regarding contacting Tillhil as a forestry landowner in the area who are
unable to commit any time to the LAF, also no recommendations from LAF members received

ACTION: To continue to contact or pass on contact details of potential landowners/horse riders
— LAF members

Website for registers on cams web:
Page 1



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of Local Access Forum held
at Shire Hall - Monmouth on Tuesday, 9th September, 2025 at 2.00 pm

Welsh language being updated after Welsh language officer report

ACTION: Update LAF when available for initial viewing -RG

4. Active travel update (Rob Stanyer, Active Travel Project Officer)

Rob delivered a presentation focused on the Kingswood Gate to Williamsfield Lane active travel
route in Monmouth. He explained that each major urban settlement in Monmouthshire has an
Active Travel Network Map, supported by an audit process that identifies which routes meet the
Active Travel standards and which are proposed for improvement to achieve compliance.

The presentation highlighted the structure of the network, which includes primary "spinal” routes
forming the core of the system, complemented by ancillary routes that connect into these main
corridors. In Monmouth, the example route extends from the Kingswood Gate development,
traverses the town, and continues eastward to Wyesham.

Rob provided a detailed overview of the scheme, including its design, the various funding
streams being utilised, and the construction challenges—patrticularly those related to drainage.
He also emphasised the importance of monitoring, noting that a range of counters have been
installed to track usage and trends. Data clearly shows that weekday school runs and
commuting now constitute a significant portion of the route’s usage following the improvement
works. Further changes in local route usage are anticipated once the final construction works
across the meadow near Kingswood Gate are completed.

Presentation is attached for reference.

Queries and Discussion:

o Swale Definition: A query was raised regarding the term "swale." Rob clarified that it
refers to a drainage feature designed to protect the meadow habitat, which is designated
as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC).

e Funding Process: It was noted that Active Travel funding is allocated through annual
bids submitted by local authorities across Wales. Previously, up to four projects could be
submitted per authority; this has now been reduced to one per year. There is also a fund
for “quick wins” projects which can be as small as installing bike shelters or drop kerbs to
make routes more accessible and up to AT standards. These quick wins happen all
across Monmouthshire as long as they are on or form part of an AT route.

e Use of Strava Heat Maps: These are used to complement counter data and provide
additional insight into route usage.

o Active Travel Coverage: Active Travel projects are currently underway in
Monmouthshire’s main urban areas, including Caldicot, Magor/Undy, Usk, Monmouth,
Chepstow, and Abergavenny.

e Planning Input: Active Travel also contributes to planning processes, often supporting
comments from Countryside Access on new developments.

5. Tracks and Trails project update

BH provided an update on the Tracks and Trails project. The last meeting took place in
February, and the group has since been awaiting a report from the consultants. The initial draft
was deemed insufficient and required significant revision. The revised report is now with
National Landscape for review, and a meeting is to be arranged to discuss its contents.

IM expressed concern over the delays, describing the situation as unacceptable and difficult to
manage. He highlighted the impact on community expectations and the risk of losing public
confidence in the process. He proposed that the Local Access Forum (LAF) write collectively to
express these concerns.

PM agreed with IM’'s comments and shared his frustration. He requested an update from RR.

Page 2



MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of Local Access Forum held
at Shire Hall - Monmouth on Tuesday, 9th September, 2025 at 2.00 pm

RR noted that Celyn is awaiting comments from Graham in Highways. A meeting is expected to
be arranged this week by National Landscape for the project’s steering group. She
acknowledged the significant volume of community feedback received regarding the routes,
which has been difficult to respond to without the finalised report.

A query was raised by AU regarding the challenges in communication and passing on
information.

RR acknowledged the need for improved communication. While some progress has been made,
the group is still awaiting the final report and clarity on next steps. She also noted that the
Highways department is undergoing internal changes, including updates to records, which has
contributed to delays.

PM asked what specific actions are now required.

RR responded that Celyn and National Landscape are to arrange a meeting with the steering
group as a priority.

PM also queried the current source of funding. It was confirmed that funding is being provided
by National Landscape. However, the delay in receiving the report is now impacting the ability to
submit bids for the next stage of funding for works.

IM suggested that the matter may need to be escalated to a county councillor to prompt further
progress.

A query was made around signage by LAF members

RR responded that a signage report has been produced to help identify appropriate locations for
installation.

IM reiterated the importance of receiving the report in order to move forward with the next stage
of the project.

PM concluded that significant progress is required ahead of the next meeting with some the
actions agreed (below).

ACTION: National landscape to organise steering group meeting
ACTION: Chair to draft letter concerning delays and position of the LAF -PM
ACTION: To invite National Landscape manager to next LAF-RG

ACTION: Update to next LAF meeting,- BH & National landscape officers

6. Natural Resources Wales update (Sarah Tindal, Senior Officer People and Places,
South East Wales/ Bob Campbell Senior Officer Land Management, South East

Wales)

Operational update from ST/BC.

Notes appended to meeting agenda

ST provided an internal update, noting that recent budget cuts have led to a cost-saving
exercise, following on from the "Case for Change" document. As part of this, the corporate plan
no longer includes recreation as a priority area, resulting in a strategic reset. This has led to
decisions such as the closure of visitor centres and has raised questions about the statutory
function of staff, including their role with Local Access Forums (LAF).

Page 3




MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of Local Access Forum held
at Shire Hall - Monmouth on Tuesday, 9th September, 2025 at 2.00 pm

However, this shift has prompted a renewed focus on the role and value of LAFs, including how
they interact with wider organisational structures. ST confirmed that senior managers remain
supportive of LAFs and their contributions, and there is how an opportunity to work more closely
together moving forward.

BC added that these changes also vary by region, and confirmed that his role remains in place,
which is a positive continuity.

An update was also provided by BC from the management team regarding the attached
operational update. It was noted that extensive wildfires have required staff to be redeployed to
support emergency response and recovery efforts.

AU raised a query regarding the Wentwood Steering Group. It was confirmed by RG that the
group is scheduled to meet in September, with attendees currently invited being Newport and
Monmouthshire county councils, Gwent Police, Woodland trust, Tillhill (landowner), plus
Monmouthshire highways.

BC also went through the proposed forestry works and the move into general management of
the woodland estate rather than reactionary, after a number of years having to deal with tree
diseases, such as larch disease. These works will have some limited path closures, but efforts
are being made to maintain public access where possible, by primarily the use of banksmen to
manage safety.

7. LAF Written contribution guestions.

RR provided an update on Countryside Access operations (written update attached).
A new role has been introduced to support the Community Links Officer. It was also noted that
the Volunteer Coordinator is currently on a one-year sabbatical, with interviews underway to
appoint a temporary replacement.

Additionally, one of the Field Wardens is on jury service for the next month, and the team will
experienced a reduction in volunteer support next year. It was confirmed that Mark Langley is
also expected to retire around January.

RR acknowledged that these staffing changes have been challenging to manage across the
wider team.

8. Countryside Access Service Update

9. Date of Next Meeting and venue

The following dates were put forward for future meetings:
November 261" 2025

ACTION: Confirm venue for next meeting-RG

ACTION: send out potential dates for a February meeting to LAF members - RG

The meeting ended at 3.30 pm

Page 4



Agenda Iltem 5
(@ monmouthshire
\JP sir fynwy ) ‘ MOﬂ

AWYR AGORED

MONMOUTHSHIRE LOCAL ACCESS FORUM
February 2025

Countryside Access Service Update
by Countryside Access Manager

Staff changes

e Colette Bosley has taken over from Matthew Lewis as Countryside,
Destination and Environment Manager.

e Ross Emery is the new Community Links Officer. This role is paid from
Access Improvement Grant and will work with Tom Arnold to facilitate
doorstep opportunities, including improving and promoting access for all. It is
a temporary role until 31t March 2027. Sam Clark is starting on 28" January
2026 as temporary Field Warden.

e David Holtam has filled the temporary Volunteer Co-ordinator post.

¢ Mark Langley who has been working three days a week as the team leader
for maintenance has retired. The role has been taken on fulltime, by his job
share colleague, Andrew Powell.

e Colin Grove has now gone up to 4 days as Field Officer taking on the
additional day from Andrew Powell.

e The Council is restructuring and Countryside Access is moving to a new
Directorate called Place, Communities and Well-being. Craig O’Conor has
been appointed Chief Operating Officer.

Countryside Access Manager
(Ruth Rourke)

Countryside Access Management Officer Countryside Access Rights of Way Officer ROW Definitive Map Officer
(job share) Enforcement Officer (Richard Garner) (Mandy Mussell)
(Mark Langley & Andy Powell) (Shaun Pritchard)
Countryside Access Countryside Volunteer Coordinator
“ommunity Links Officers x2 (P/T) Assistant Rights of Way Officer Technician
(Tom Arnold & Ross Emery) (Morag Sinton) [On Career Break] (job share) (lan Juhlke)

(David Holtam) Covering 8/25-8/26  (Gavin Pugh & Jack Capon)

Rights of Way Field Officer
(Job share) Business Support Officer

(Colin Grove & Andy Powell) (Jayne Jones)

Field Warden (P/T)
(Mike Noakes)

Budget

The draft revenue and capital budget proposals for 2026/27 are to commence a
period of consultation for four weeks ending 18" February 2026 with

Page 5



@ monmouthshire
\JO sir fynwyt ) ‘ MOﬂ

AWYR AGORED

Face to face and virtual engagement events — Countywide and targeted
> Special budget page on Council website

> Online survey and social media campaign

> Council scrutiny meetings — Jan-Feb 2026

Further information on consultation events will be made available on the Council
website here, along with ways for people to engage in and respond during the
consultation process. The Council is recommending £352,000 in Capital for public
rights of way.

Legislative changes

The Visitor Levy has received Royal Assent. The new law gives councils across
Wales the choice to introduce a visitor levy in their area — “a small contribution from
overnight guests that will support local tourism and protect what makes each
destination special”. The earliest this could happen is 2007. Councils will consult
local communities and businesses before making any decision about introducing a
visitor levy.

To support this change, the new law also requires anyone charging visitors for
overnight stays in Wales to register with the Welsh Revenue Authority. Visitor
accommodation providers must register with the Welsh Revenue Authority
regardless of whether their council introduces a visitor levy. Registration opens in
autumn 2026.

The Welsh Revenue Authority has published new guidance.

Countryside Sites

Consultants have been engaged to improve and provide gateway opportunities at
Clydach lIronworks. Part of the project will include the opportunity for a public
consultation on how local people would like to be involved and what improvements
they would like to see. The LAF can be involved with this in conjunction with BBNP
LAF.

Specialist contractors are also working to consolidate and make safe the ironworks.

Public Right of Way Maintenance

Storm Claudia. Staff have been out checking the network. Paths within Monmouth
Town are being cleansed (photo is of Chippenham Fields path). The stone to dust
path at Drybridge will need repairs and stiles/fencing and surfacing has been an
issue along the Monnow at Skenfrith. There have also been reported localised
incidents of damage. There is significant debris around some of the bridges that will
need to be cleared such as can be seen here at Oldcastle.

Page 6


https://www.letstalkmonmouthshire.co.uk/
https://www.gov.wales/visitor-levy-guidance-visitor-accommodation-providers?utm_source=newsletter&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=09252&dm_i=7XV8,28SWX,4IS3B4,489ZG,1

monmouthshire
»sirﬁrnwyt ) ‘ MOﬂ

AWYR AGORED

It will take some time for all issues to be reported but it the
current damage is estimated at £8-10,000 for public rights
of way. The Council continues to provide support to
residents affected and a donation page has been set up to
help with on-going support.

The impacts on the Countryside Access service have
been:

o through assisting emergency planning and on-
going response,

o a limited response to other cases due to the need
to check the network particularly along the Monnow
and to arrange for necessary repairs.

¢ Impact on staff living in Monmouth has left the team short staffed and

reduced ability to manage volunteer & grants programme.

Bridge closures

The following bridges have been closed by formal order. Some are new closures and
some closures are already in place but being extended. The reason for the closures
is because of the likelihood of danger to the public.

Public Footpaths 374(part),213(part) & 207 (part) Mitchel Troy United. Footpath
25(part), Mathern, Footpaths 2(part) & 32(part) Llantrisant Fawr, Footpaths 86(part),
85(part) & 55(part) Raglan United, Footpaths 51(part)&17(part) Llangwm, Footpaths
444(part), LIanfiangel Crucorney, Footpath 204 (part) Grosmont, Footpaths 222(part)
& 294(part), LIangattock-Vibon-Avel United, Footpath 57(part) Gwehelog Fawr,
Footpath 73(part) Llanarth Fawr, Footpath 52(part) Llanbadoc Fawr and Footpath
99(part), Devauden

Last year there was 50% more closures, but some bridges have been replaced and
some removed. Additionally new bridges have been identified as being unsafe.

National Forest Trail

The National Forest in Wales now covers the equivalent of over 90,000 rugby
pitches. It is led by Welsh Government and will create a network of woodlands and
forests throughout Wales, under high quality management.

The development of a National Forest Trail is an ambitious aim for Wales to be one
of the first nations to have a national wood walk. The trail will stretch the length and
breadth of Wales. It is an early stage of development and will be a significant long-
term project.

The National Forest Trail will showcase the wide variety of National Forest for Wales
sites and improve connectivity between them. Access to woodlands and forests is

Page 7



“4l monmouthshire
By U Mon

AWYR AGORED

proven to bring multiple social, economic and environmental benefits, so the Forest
Tral is seen as playing a key role to maximise these opportunities. A pilot study is
currently being held through deprived areas such as Methyr, linking to the waterfalls
in Brecon Beacons.

There is currently no connection within Monmouthshire, and we await information
from the trial to see how the route may develop and link here.

Countryside Code 75th Birthday

The Countryside Code was first published on 11" May 1951 as part of the post-war
social welfare reforms. NRW and Natural England have a duty to
issue and from time to time revise a code of conduct for outdoor
recreation, which is done by the promotion of the countryside
code. With the upcoming anniversary there is opportunity to reflect
on what is good, and what could be improved in the promotion of
the countryside code. The results of a recent stakeholder survey
show that few people in Wales know about or care about the code.

A Subgroup of the National Access Forum Wales Group is being established to
consider relevant action. If you should have any innovative solutions/ideas, please
let Monmouthshire’s Countryside Access Team know so they can be passed on to
this subgroup to consider.

National Infrastructure Project- NSIP Solar Scheme

We have received a pre-consultation letter for the proposed NSIP Solar Scheme on
the Gwent Levels (south of Llanwern Steelworks). The scheme spans
Monmouthshire and Newport and aims to deliver around 380 MW of renewable
electricity annually. We don’t have much information yet, but here is the letter and a
link to the scheme's website .

Initially from our perspective, the obvious points are:

o It affects the Wales Coast Path and an ongoing grant and project to improve
links to the WCP.

e There are considerable environmental considerations that will need input.

o Two footpaths in Newport are proposed for diversion.

This is a matter which the LAF may wish to consider once further information
is available. However, comments can be made individually at this stage on the
planning portal to reference DC/2025/01574

Wales Coast Path

King Charles Ill England Coast Path is planned to be opened in Summer 2026.
Natural England are keen that an opening celebrates the start and finish of the
English and Welsh Coast Paths and to promote links. Discussions have started and

Page 8


https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.futureenergyllanwern.co.uk%2F&data=05%7C02%7CRuthRourke%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cbfe7bb774e28445249cb08de43000f40%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C639021864836358643%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=t%2BENW%2Fqip3%2F2F78GRPqo4RSLgzly1cAHUWf7DniLf8w%3D&reserved=0

” hshir
B iy 0 Monl

AWYR AGORED

details will be shared when known. Any ideas for the celebrations please get in
touch with the Countryside Access Team.

With over 10,500 Facebook members, it’s the perfect place to pick up some practical hints
and tips on walking the path along with plenty of inspiration and encouragement from fellow
path walkers Facebook: Wales Coast Path Community / Cymuned Liwybr Arfordir

Cymru
NEW! Winter range is now out! £

Layer up and head out in warm cosy coats, hew hats and gloves to keep you walking
on the path this winter.

Consultations

Welsh Government have published a consultation on the third revision to Active Travel
Guidance. Read more on this on gov.wales

Useful information

Read more about the Countryside Code

Be adventure SMART Read how to be more prepared before heading out onto the
path

Public Rights of Way Working Map Public Rights of Way - Public Rights of Way Map

Countryside Access Improvement Plan

Countryside Access Policy, Protocol and Operational Management Guide

Monmouthshire PROW Biodiversity Action Plan

Visit Monmouthshire details the walks, rides and evets that are available, along with
accommodation and other attractions.

Public Consultations including Public Path Orders

To report a problem, use our interactive working map link above. Alternatively, you
can email countryside@monmouthshire.gov.uk or write to

Countryside Access, Monmouthshire County Council, County Hall. The Rhaydr, Usk
NP161GA

Urgent issues such as a broken bridge can be reported on 01633
644850.

Page 9


https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flinks-1.govdelivery.com%2FCL0%2Fhttps%3A%252F%252Fwww.facebook.com%252Fgroups%252F643856486046722%253Futm_medium%3Demail%2526utm_source%3Dgovdelivery%2F1%2F0100019ae9c43fbb-66bc1f43-8a46-4873-a727-a59f28e6f0bc-000000%2F598_r2cvrN9ot4bTG67e01jFhEM_OIdWlszdBlBRXFM%3D434&data=05%7C02%7Cruthrourke%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C285c8247a2cf4ee6c84e08de33417a9e%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C639004553523867738%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Rr3wVgdtif2ZX9r7AAMXx87c17A9BGrDwcsBRZC%2FgWw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flinks-1.govdelivery.com%2FCL0%2Fhttps%3A%252F%252Fwww.facebook.com%252Fgroups%252F643856486046722%253Futm_medium%3Demail%2526utm_source%3Dgovdelivery%2F1%2F0100019ae9c43fbb-66bc1f43-8a46-4873-a727-a59f28e6f0bc-000000%2F598_r2cvrN9ot4bTG67e01jFhEM_OIdWlszdBlBRXFM%3D434&data=05%7C02%7Cruthrourke%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7C285c8247a2cf4ee6c84e08de33417a9e%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C639004553523867738%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Rr3wVgdtif2ZX9r7AAMXx87c17A9BGrDwcsBRZC%2FgWw%3D&reserved=0
https://www.gov.wales/active-travel-act-guidance-atag?utm_content=&utm_medium=email&utm_name=&utm_source=govdelivery&utm_term=
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flinks-1.govdelivery.com%2FCL0%2Fhttps%3A%252F%252Fnaturalresources.wales%252Fdays-out%252Fthe-countryside-codes%252F%253Flang%3Den%2526utm_medium%3Demail%2526utm_source%3Dgovdelivery%2F1%2F010001987aa95095-df5c5f43-b965-428a-9489-dfae3ce1deaf-000000%2F3uhU0chMlXR01Es0-tgHgQiKFerAREB8w1Zt1EIZ5bI%3D417&data=05%7C02%7Cruthrourke%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cba6d6669e0984e8bd3df08ddd42d6e61%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C638900013790689025%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=7Q2rlsc5dv42GtDcvQJi08fljCJOF0sDPhsc9rVflbg%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flinks-1.govdelivery.com%2FCL0%2Fhttps%3A%252F%252Fwww.adventuresmart.uk%252F%253Futm_medium%3Demail%2526utm_source%3Dgovdelivery%2F1%2F010001987aa95095-df5c5f43-b965-428a-9489-dfae3ce1deaf-000000%2FcDIYVqHwFgz6qPAegm7gN3dARPuoq_OWgGog56BRxrE%3D417&data=05%7C02%7Cruthrourke%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cba6d6669e0984e8bd3df08ddd42d6e61%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C638900013790703831%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=TorGeU1n551n%2BTDxhJpirTztHs%2BWriseDNCBF9MiW0A%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Flinks-1.govdelivery.com%2FCL0%2Fhttps%3A%252F%252Fwww.adventuresmart.uk%252F%253Futm_medium%3Demail%2526utm_source%3Dgovdelivery%2F1%2F010001987aa95095-df5c5f43-b965-428a-9489-dfae3ce1deaf-000000%2FcDIYVqHwFgz6qPAegm7gN3dARPuoq_OWgGog56BRxrE%3D417&data=05%7C02%7Cruthrourke%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Cba6d6669e0984e8bd3df08ddd42d6e61%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C638900013790703831%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=TorGeU1n551n%2BTDxhJpirTztHs%2BWriseDNCBF9MiW0A%3D&reserved=0
https://access.monmouthshire.gov.uk/standardmap.aspx
https://www.monlife.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/ROWIP-English-v5-final-07012020.pdf
https://www.monlife.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Final-English-CA-Policy-and-Protocol-Operational-Management.pdf
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2018/10/jmon102-summary-bap-version-0-01-11_02_2011.pdf
https://www.visitmonmouthshire.com/things-to-do/walking
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/countryside-services/countryside-access/public-path-order-consultations/
mailto:countryside@monmouthshire.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 8

Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru
Natural Resources Wales

Monmouth LAF meeting update

18/12/25
NRW Update:

1. Land Management update:

The Team have been busy with our day to day management works on the Welsh Government
Woodland Estate (WGWE)

Here are some key updates on recent and planned works across the area:

e For the next few months we will be focusing on OGB1 tree safety with some larger
projects for that taking place on A466 (Coed Beddick) and also at Fedw.

e We are also carrying out drainage monitoring and maintenance works across the
area.

e We hope to replace the Coppice Mawar bridge that was damaged during eh storms
earlier in the year.

e The birch clearance at Beacon hill heathland continues which is ongoing.

¢ We will also be starting some restoration work at the Scheduled Ancient Monument
at Y Graig, near Abergavenny. We are hoping to complete the masonry restoration
of one of the key buildings at Y Graig over the next few months.

e MonlLife Volunteers will be assisting Monmouth CC PROW staff in managing the
right of way in the area.

e Initial Wentwood steering group meeting has been held and we are keen to engage
with the wider landowner stakeholders and the National Landscape to look at the
future of the site in respect to recreation and access.

e We will be carrying out internal/external flailing along forest and public roads.

e Day to Day forest management such as litter/flytipping/grass cutting/culvert
maintenance etc.

For any queries please use the Land Management Team contact e mail:
forestsandnaturesoutheast@naturalresourceswales.gov.uk

NOTE: For urgent or out of hrs incidents / reports use the Incident Control Centre
(ICC) :

0300 065 3000 (24/7) Natural Resources Wales / Report an incident

Reporting off-road vehicles: contact@gwent.pnn.police.uk Call 101 @gwentpolice

Page 11

D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaltemDocs\9\0\3\AI00020309\$3nkmpwfz.docx


mailto:forestsandnaturesoutheast@naturalresourceswales.gov.uk
https://naturalresources.wales/about-us/contact-us/report-an-environmental-incident/?lang=en
mailto:contact@gwent.pnn.police.uk

2. Forest Operations update:
Current program is focused on managing tree diseases, Larch & Ash die back, most operations
in the area are carried out in the Autum/winter due to bird nesting and other protection
restrictions. Site being worked ‘imminently’ are as follows:

Beacon Hill 72009: Thinning

Barbados 73020: Thinning with some Larch removal

Chepstow Park 74002: North West Thinning

Pant y Warren 74004 Thinning

Fedw Wood 74007 & 74233 Thinning and some minor Larch removal

There is some general information on or Forest Operations the NRW website here:

Upcoming forestry and land management work, Northern and Southern Wye woodlands,
Monmouthshire - Natural Resources Wales Citizen Space - Citizen Space (cyfoethnaturiol.cymru)

To contract the Forest Operations team direct please use:

SEForest.operations@naturalresources.wales

Action points from meetings:

Serial & Type | Owner | Subject: Completed (if
-Action required)
-Decision
-Note
-Point

Bob Campbell

Uwch Swyddog Rheoli Tir / Senior Officer, Land Management
Gweithrediadau De Ddwyrain Cymru / South East Wales Operations
Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru / Natural Resources Wales

Page 12

D:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaltemDocs\9\0\3\AI00020309\$3nkmpwfz.docx


https://ymgynghori.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/south-east-wales-de-ddwyrain-cymru/upcoming-forestry-and-land-management-work-norther/
https://ymgynghori.cyfoethnaturiol.cymru/south-east-wales-de-ddwyrain-cymru/upcoming-forestry-and-land-management-work-norther/
mailto:SEForest.operations@naturalresources.wales

Agenda Item 9

Local Access Forum: Written Question contributions

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Tread lightly! training courses feedback request

Treadlightly! has launched several training courses for its members, which are also
potentially useful to others.

John Askew on behalf of Treadlightly! and GLASS, has asked if LAF members could
provide any feedback they may have on the courses which are available for free
here:

Choose your course | Tread Lightly! United Kingdom

This can either be fed back directly to the LAF secretary, to pass on, or during the
LAF meeting under agenda item 9.

Page 15


https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ftreadlightly.org.uk%2Fchoose-your-course%2F&data=05%7C02%7CRichardGarner%40monmouthshire.gov.uk%7Ceabe62059dd742eb2ddd08de47a1d064%7C2c4d0079c52c4bb3b3cad8eaf1b6b7d5%7C0%7C0%7C639026957505734962%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=xZxpwGXdRMbINsmi8%2F%2FT%2FGhXEdKGHifO8h9hXu4rXLA%3D&reserved=0

This page is intentionally left blank



From: Trellech United Community Council (TUCC)
To: Celyn Davies - Project Officer

CC. Andrew Blake Lower Wye Valley Tracks and Trails Steering Group Chair
LAF Chair
Highways
Rights of Way
NRW
Wye Valley Villages Group
Wye Valley consortium
Richard John
Jayne Mckenna
Peter Fox
Laura Jones
Catherine Fookes

Dear Celyn,

Thank you for your response to our email dated 27™ January. We have been following the
work of the Lower Wye Tracks and Trails Steering Group with interest since its inception
and very much appreciate you circulating minutes directly to us. We agreed at our last
TUCC meeting (March 2025) to form a sub group of the TUCC to focus on this issue and
to make contact again giving the reasons why this project is a priority for us and detailing
the issues that our local area is facing, particularly our residents and businesses, which
must be our primary focus. We also wantto ensure that the Steering Group are fully aware
of the tracks that are causing particular issues for residents and to raise some questions
that have arisen from the minutes we received.

We have been receiving feedback from residents, particularly in Whitebrook, but also
from Whitelye and more recently from Penallt, about the impact of off-road bikes on legal
and illegal tracks for a number of years. We have discussed at length the issues arising
from the motorbikes using tracks illegally and, more importantly, the increasing intensity
of the use by motorbikes of unclassified roads (UCRs). We have repeatedly asked key
people to come and talk to us about potential solutions and the barriers to resolving
these issues, but we have been told multiple times that the solutions will come out of the
Tracks and Trails consultation and action plan. That is why the TUCC and local residents
have been so anxious to understand the output from this work. Indeed the first
information we had about this project from County Councillor Richard John at a TUCC
meeting in September 2023 was that it had been specifically set up to look for solutions
to the issue of motorbikes using unclassified roads.

1
Page 17



There is also a lot of frustration, disillusionment and anger amongst our residents who
have reported these issues to the police and other authorities over a number of years and
sought solutions but have seen no action taken.

The consultation analysis pointed out that over a third of the tracks and trails in the Lower
Wye Valley (370 public rights of way and 17 unclassified roads) are in the TUCC area.
There are a large number of local users of tracks and trails here and we have three very
active footpath groups. The Council has close connection with these volunteers and the
state and use of the tracks and trails in the TUCC area is of primary concern to us.

The terms of reference for both the Consultation and the Steering Group point to
‘designing solutions to conflicts’ and the responsibilities of the Steering Group include
‘develop solutions that work well for the majority, ensuring that regard is paid to reversing
the decline in biodiversity, reduce greenhouse gases and encouraging least restrictive
access’. While we welcome this focus and feel that it may have leverage, we note that
these responsibilities do not prioritise the needs of local communities (residents and
businesses), which we believe should carry at least as much weight as biodiversity and
environmental concerns.

We further believe that the use of these tracks by motorbikes is contradictory to the needs
of least restrictive access, biodiversity and reducing greenhouse gas emissions. It also
contradicts the needs of communities and the stated objectives of the Wye Valley
National Landscape plan, NRW plans and tourism policies to encourage people to come
to the Wye Valley to enjoy the landscape, wildlife, and tranquillity. It seems very strange
in an environment where householders and businesses have to jump through many
ecological and environmental hoops to obtain planning permission that an activity that
has so many negative impacts on the environment, in its broadest sense, should be
allowed to continue without any restrictions.

Key Issues

There are many instances of the use of illegal motorbikes (no plates, illegal exhausts etc)
on tracks and of trail bikers using rights of way illegally — the solutions to these issues are
difficult but at least the police have powers to act. These instances are exacerbated by
the growing use of UCRs, bringing more trail bikers to the area and giving easier access to
tracks that are not open to motorised vehicles.

The increasing use of green lanes or UCRs in the area and the issues that have arisen
because of this are of greater concern to the TUCC, to residents and other users of the
tracks.

Residents have reported that when motorbike use of these routes was occasional there
were very few issues, but now some UCRs form part of a widely promoted European
Enduro set of routes, meaning that the intensity of use (up to 100 bikes a day — in groups
of around 10-15 at the weekends and frequently during the week too) has grown

2
Page 18



exponentially and is still continuing to grow. There are people and companies charging
for taking tours around these routes and the impact on residents, the landscape, and
biodiversity and the limiting of safe enjoyable routes for other users is significant. The
impacts are reasonably well understood, but we have attached a summary of the
impacts we have discussed within the TUCC and with local residents. (see appendix 1).

The specific routes causing most concern to residents in the TUCC area are as
follows:

Whitebrook
Three Unclassified County Roads (UCRs).

e “The Horseway”. Starting near to Old Trinity Church and taking a very steep route
NW towards Tregagle

e “Ginny’s Lane”. Starting at the Church and ending at Coney Oak Cottage, The
Narth.

e “Robin’s Lane”. Starting higher up the valley road and running up to The Narth.

Byway 382/462/3.

e “The New Road’. Built during the 1700s as a perfectly graded track to allow empty
horse drawn carts to access the mills higher up the valley having discharged their
loads at the river quay. Closed a few years ago by a temporary order due to a
landslip and re-opened to all except 4x4 vehicles by insertion of metal posts at
each end. Not sure if temporary order lifted or modified?

Penallt

e Routes A and D on the map shown in appendix 3 — A is an unclassified road
(C48.13 and C48.1) and D a restricted byway (382/448/1, 449/1 and 447/1).

Whitelye

e Tintern to Whitelye Track — an unclassified road referred to as Barbados Lane or
public right of way from Tintern to Prices Bridge

We feel strongly that the best way to resolve the issues for these routes would be to close
them to motorised vehicles. We have attached detailed information about each of the
routes to this letter, including some information about measures that have been taken
over the last few years to address the problems. (Appendices 2,3,4)

We are grateful to have been included in the circulation of minutes and for the focus that
the Steering Group has had on starting to understand the issues faced on the UCRs that
have been identified as problematic, but have some questions and observations about
the work being undertaken by the Steering Group to ‘design solutions’ to some of the
issues which have been raised.

3
Page 19



Declassifying UCRs or restricting use by motorise vehicles - We would like
assurances that this approach remains an option for recommendation by the Steering
Group following surveying and monitoring.

Specific UCRs - We would like to understand in detail the specific UCRs that surveying
and monitoring will focus on so that we can satisfy ourselves that the Steering Group is
looking at UCRs that are of concern to us and residents. Is it possible to provide the
information in map form? Does the group have plans to do anymore site visits and, if so,
where?

Signage update - We have concerns about the merits of spending scarce funds on a new
design for signage and a wholesale replacement of sighs when footpath groups in
conjunction with MCC are regularly updating and repairing current signage. We are also
concerned about focusing initially on the two priority target areas around Tintern and
Whitebrook —what is the objective of installing new signage in these areas?

Spending money on new signage showing that these are legal routes is likely to send the
wrong message to residents and to the TUCC, who will see it as potentially causing a
further increase in activity and proof that access to these routes by motorised vehicles is
not going to change. Therefore the impacts that they are experiencing will continue and
get worse, i.e. there is no meaningful solution coming from this project for them as was
promised. Indeed this has already been seen in Whitebrook with residents talking to
surveying groups recently and reporting concerns back to TUCC.

Audit Tender - Is it possible for us to have sight of the brief to the audit surveyors to see
what they have been tasked with and what information/insights are likely to come out of
the final report. Please can you also let us know if these surveys will consider the
following, all of which will shed light on the state of the tracks and their suitability for
different types of usage:-

e Proximity of tracks to residential properties and businesses
e Noise impacts —amplification and reverberation of sound due to topography

e Suitability of the track for particular uses e.g. narrowness, gradients, surface
materials/state, and will they take into account how the track might look at
different times of year?

e Proximity to historical structures with the potential to cause damage. We have
already seen evidence of damage to historical structures which are being driven
over in Whitebrook, such as ancient cobbles, pack horse steps, as well as old
walls being damaged or undermined.

Monitoring Users — There are some concerns about the monitoring of usage and how to
avoid the feeling that the Steering Group doesn’t trust information already supplied by
local communities and thus wishes to start from scratch.

4
Page 20



e How to ensure that usage is monitored at different times of year, week etc, so
results are not just a snapshot.

e How to mitigate against the practice of connected trail biking organisations
communicating that monitoring is taking place and avoiding particular routes for
the duration of the monitoring. This has been reported to us in the past and will
skew the data.

e Local residents who are best placed to report sightings of bikes have become
disillusioned with constantly reporting instances and seeing no action as a result.
This means that not all instances will be reported. It is also stressful for local
residents who are already being significantly impacted by this activity to focus on
monitoring and reporting activity without having assurances that action will be
taken.

e Has the group considered using strategically placed local residents to monitor
activity over a defined period of time? We have local volunteers who have
expressed a willingness to do this.

e TUCC Councillors may be able to help to communicate any tools for reporting as
well as information regarding ‘where to report what’ to local communities.

e Has the Steering Group considered using relatively inexpensive wildlife cameras,
to monitor usage?

Operation Harley - reports to operation Harley will only be applicable to illegal activity,
which is not the key issue for TUCC and local residents. However, even in these
circumstances there is cynicism about reporting to the police as usually by the time the
police arrive the bikes have gone, and it is not safe for residents to try and obtain
photographic evidence. This has resulted in confrontations between residents and trail
bikers. It may be applicable to ask MCC, Wye Valley National Landscape, NRW etc for
reports or complaints they have received to supplement police reports and provide
information regarding issues experienced by the use of UCRs.

Legal Brief — The minutes from 3™ December meeting talk about requesting a legal brief
from the MCC legal team. We would be grateful if we could have a copy of this once itis
available.

Public meeting/communication to wider public — we would like some confirmation of
how and when the Steering Group intends to engage with the public on these issues and
what the Steering Group might be in a position to share.

We understand that we are asking for a lot of information here, but one of the purposes
of the steering group ‘is to provide means for people to have their say on key issues and
opportunities’ and hopefully by understanding more of the detail of the Group’s work and
intentions we can help facilitate this. We have attached detailed information regarding

5
Page 21



the particular tracks that have been reported to us by local residents and which are cause
for concern for us.

As per the minutes 3™ of December we would like to take up your offer of having
Councillors observe Steering Group meetings and propose that Cllr Peter Ash,
Community Councillor to Whitebrook, attend steering group meetings as an observer on
behalf of and to feedback directly to the TUCC. Please can you confirm that this is
acceptable.

Finally, we can understand the attraction of such routes to off-road bikers and the fun to
be gained and wouldn't want to stop their activities completely. However, there are many
green roads where surfaces do not degrade to an unacceptable level and disturbances
to residents are minimal - these are much more suitable for off-road use. Our focus is on
the routes where this is not the case.

We hope that this letter will give you some valuable information regarding the impacts
that are concerning TUCC and the local community, insight into the reasons why we are
so invested in this project and some suggestions for consideration by the Steering Group.
We would be gratefulif it could be circulated to all members of the Steering Group. If there
is any way that we can contribute to this work please let us know. We look forward to
hearing from you.

Yours sincerely,

Clerkto TUCC

6
Page 22



Appendix 1 Impact Summary

Noise- Many of these routes (UCRs) are on the sides of valleys and run close to
residences and businesses so noise is amplified and reverberates across the valley. The
numbers of motorbikes using the trails means that noise disturbance for residents and
for wildlife can be continuous and very intrusive, particularly at weekends. As the state of
the tracks deteriorates, the amount of power required by motorbikes to navigate the
tracks increases resulting in the use of more powerful/noisier bikes and in significantly
more engine revving.

Fumes - the fumes generated by motorbikes in these sorts of numbers are detrimental
to residents, other users and to wildlife.

Landscape - the UCRs we are concerned with were never intended for motorised use -
indeed many other routes in this area have been restricted to non-motorised traffic, e.g.
by being classified as public footpaths, bridleways and restricted byways and are very
similar in appearance to “our UCRs”. They were originally intended for people driving
animals, walking to work or at the most for small carts. They are mostly very narrow, with
soft surfaces, often wet and easily damaged. The use of these routes by large numbers of
motorbikes is causing extensive damage to the landscape, erosion of tracks and damage
to and undermining of old stone walls. Access to these UCRs is also facilitating access
to tracks which are illegal for off-road bikers.

Health and Safety — the presence of big groups of off-road bikers considerably limits use
of these tracks by all other users who fear encountering motorbikes on narrow tracks with
danger to children, pets and horses a particular issue. Anecdotally, there have been
incidents where other users have been injured either through encounters with trail bikers
or through trying to navigate tracks that have been significantly damaged by the intensive
use by trail bikes.

Recreational Use - Surfaces of many of these tracks have been so damaged by erosion
that recreational use by walkers has become difficult if not impossible and certainly
impossible by cyclists. They have become a “playground” for off-road bikers and
unfriendly for everyone else — an intolerable state of affairs.

Biodiversity — loss of habitat, the disturbance to wildlife and vegetation due to noise,
fumes and vibration and damage/erosion of landscape are key impacts of off-road
motorbikes on these tracks.

Residents — the continual impact of off-road biking activities on people living near the
trails is very stressful. The loss of amenity for residents close to these trails can be
considerable. Local residents have had frightening encounters with off-road bikers and
large groups of helmeted riders can be very intimidating. There are also members of the
community who have attempted to raise the negative impacts of this activity with the
authorities, but who are now apprehensive about reprisals. There is also considerable

7
Page 23



anecdotal evidence of people moving away from these communities or having difficulties
selling properties due to this activity as well as negative comments made by holiday-
makers to the owners of holiday lets.

8
Page 24



Appendix 2 Tracks and Trails within Whitebrook.

Should be open to everyone to enjoy freely the benefits that the countryside generally,
and the area specifically, has to offer. These include appreciation of nature and
biodiversity, physical health and mental health benefits and the ability to be able to enjoy
activities within the countryside but without impacting on other users or local residents.
q b 3 2l
~ Colonel's Park™-
O o o

Dao

Pwliplythin
0

&

‘\‘ “‘ \‘ln\ .
\\’3\ BN ‘

>
N ~
N

\

Tracks of concern:
These comprise principally four tracks.

Three Unclassified Country Roads.

A “The Horseway”. Starting near to Old Trinity Church and taking a very steep route
NW towards Tregagle.

B “Ginny’s Lane”. Starting at the Church and ending at Coney Oak Cottage, The
Narth.

C “Robin’s Lane”. Starting higher up the valley road and running up to The Narth.

D Byway 382/462/3. “The New Road’. Built during the 1700s as a perfectly graded
track to allow empty horse drawn carts to access the mills higher up the valley having
discharged their loads at the river quay. Closed a few years ago by a temporary order due
to a landslip and re-opened to all except 4x4 vehicles by insertion of metal posts at each
end. Not sure if temporary order lifted or modified?

9
Page 25



Note: The Tracks and Trails document that came out after the consultation states that
Trellech United has the highest proportion of unclassified country roads in the area. (See
enclosures)

Areas of concern:

Damage to tracks All users of tracks will inflict damage, including walkers and horse
riders, but off-road motorbikes inflict the greatest and most rapid damage. The Horseway
could be walked even with a pushchair as little as 14 years ago. Now it is completely
unsafe for such usage. Damage prevents legal use by other users.

Damage to historical artefacts. Whitebrook has arich history due to the numerous wire
and later papermills and the tracks reflect this.

The Horseway had a leat crossing it at the top of the Whitebrook section and good
examples of cobbled surface, now all destroyed.

Ginny’s Lane has a well cobbled surface adjacent to the Church and stone steps higher
up, all now being damaged by trail bikes.

Robins Lane at one point crossed a large leat which is a scheduled ancient monument
(SAM). Trail riders regularly leave the lane and ride over the SAM.

Effect on Biodiversity. Both plants and animals e.g. dippers on the Whitebrook and pine
martens in the woods. Damage is also caused to bluebell woods when motorbikes leave
the routes.

Noise Pollution. Trail bikes have little or no silencing and to climb the tracks the riders
have to rev their engines more than normally. The nature of the topography means that
noise reverberates around the valley and spoils life for others. The effect of noise on
people’s health is well documented’.

Safety. Both to other users when different groups meet on the same path, but also to
users who may have an accident due to the poor surfaces.

Whatis MCC'’s liability in such a case?

Some heated incidents between bikers and residents have occurred and these are likely
to increase. Some residents are scared of confrontation and don’t want to be identified
or reportincidents because of the fear of being targeted.

Tourism. Reported adverse comments from tourists visiting or staying in the village /area.

Other adverse effects on Residents. Property sales. Debris and flooding on the village
road due to water erosion of damaged paths.

" https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/crmjdm2m4yjo

10
Page 26


https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/crmjdm2m4yjo

Monitoring:

Effectively none. CADW is sympathetic and concerned about damage to the Scheduled
Ancient Monument site but is stretched trying to monitor its other sites in Wales.

The Police are often called, but either do not attend, or if they do, the riders have gone.
Actions:

1. To reclassify the three Unclassified County Roads to footpaths, bridleways or
restricted byways as they are not safe, or suitable for motorised traffic. When
formed in the 1700s or earlier, they were for workers to travel on foot between
villages and work (Whitebrook Mills), or at best pack horses.

MCC stated in 2006 that this was to take place by using TROs, but never did.
Despite requests the responsible Officer has not given a reason.

2. Byway 382/462/3 is also now unsuitable as badly damaged but might be more
problematical to impose a TRO? At the very least it should have a low speed limit
imposed on traffic.

3. Creation of designated tracks solely for bikers to enjoy their hobby, but in areas
that have less impact on residents or other path users.

Summary of some of the recent investigations undertaken re. Whitebrook UCRs

2006 — MCC Country Access promised that the three UCRs in Whitebrook would be
reclassified, but this never happened and there has never been a reason given for this.

July 2019 - Wye Valley AONB Joint Advisory Committee Technical Officers’ Working
Party Report: report on Lower Wye Catchments Natural Flood Management (NFM) and
Green Infrastructure (Gl) Project:-

“A brief is to be drawn up for Atkins to carry out a walkover study of four unclassified
county roads to establish causes of the significant degradation to these routes and
suggest potential solutions.”

September 2019 — the Atkins Report focused on four unclassified highways (UCH), two
of which are in the TUCC area, the Horseway and Robin’s Way, both in Whitebrook. It
observes that both experience high levels of erosion, particularly in the steeper sections
making them difficult for pedestrians to walk on.

The report concludes by saying

“This short study has identified a suite of NFM measures that could manage erosion on
four UCHSs near Tintern to and improve access, particularly for pedestrians. However,
continued use of the UCHs by motorbikes may reduce the success of any measures
that are implemented apart from hard resurfacing of the ground. Hence the measures

11
Page 27



set out in this study are likely to be most effective if combined with restricting motorbike
use of the UCHs, in particular on the steeper sections most vulnerable to erosion (e.g.
on Robin’s Way, Horse Way and parts of Glynwood Way). Although beyond the scope of
this technical study, we understand there are various mechanisms for restricting
motorbike access including TROs and downgrading UCHSs to Rights of Ways for just
pedestrians and horses.”

2019 - 2021 - The Atkins Report provided the basis for some experimental remedial
work that was done on a UCR at Tintern. The project was time limited and came to an
end.

The idea of the “Tracks and Trails” Project emerged as further pressure was placed on
MCC to do something.

October 2021 - some actions/points from a meeting with Tom Blythe (local manager for
NRW):

¢ NRW has resources in the current financial year that could be allocated to a
project to improve UCRs on their land.

e Tom to check with Nickie Moore at the AONB on her work on the UCRs. It’s
understood that she is preparing a costed schedule of the improvement works
required and is in contact with both MCC Highways and the Local Access Forum.
Tom would then consider how best the AONB and NRW could work together to
improve the situation.

¢ |In addition to offroad motorcycles, The Horse Way is also used by a four-wheel
drive vehicle group (thought to be from Cwmbran) who employ winches to drag
the vehicles through sections that are undriveable.

o Tom explained that there could be options to block sections of route being
used by motorcyclists which are off the UCR, but the success of this would
depend on terrain and tree cover.

¢ Tom explained that some new signage was being created with Gwent Police that
would be posted at key locations to make clear that illegal off-road motorcycling
is not permitted.

e Richard John to organise a meeting in January, inviting NRW and Gwent Police

January 2022 - meeting with Richard John (MCC Councillor) and Mark Hand (MCC
Highways) on Whitebrook Unclassified County Roads: this considered the four routes
described in the letter to Celyn Davies an concerns regarding noise (of motorcycles),
pollution (soil material runoff into water courses), surface erosion, safety (of all users),
loss of access (to non-motorised users), damage to the historic fabric of the
countryside), ancient trees (root and trunk damage) and access to “forbidden areas”

12
Page 28



(there is extensive evidence that the UCRs are routinely being used to gain access to
other areas — e.g. the "scrambling area" in Manor Wood where the forest road ends at its
junction with Robins Way.)

February 2022 - from Mark Hand: “We’ll take a look at this in the new financial year
along with the other route at Whitecastle and some around Tintern. We’ll be working
with colleagues in the AONB office, NRW (who own some of the land in the area), the
Police and Countryside team to see what options are available.

We cannot do anything before that due to other time critical projects that we’re working
on for completion this financial year.”

Mark left MCC shortly after this.

February 2022 - from Richard John: “l think you’re right that officers hadn’t appreciated
just how badly damaged these tracks have become as a result of these bikers and to be
fair they do have to be seen to be believed. | had a catch up with Mark about this and a
couple of other current highways issues on Thursday. Mark is grateful for the updates
and reassured me that he and Graham (Kinsella) are actively considering this, but as
you appreciate it isn’t straight forward. A number of bikers’ groups have become
increasingly active in the legal domain where councils have tried to close routes to
motorised vehicles and a number of bids have been unsuccessful where process has
been challenged. So while route closure has to be considered, officers do need to
proceed carefully.

In my experience the best way to get things done is by county councillors working
together with the community council and other players like Gwent Police and NRW. | did
flag this up again with Gwent Police when | met with their Monmouthshire Inspector
Nikki Hughes a few weeks ago and she did say they would try to put some additional
resource into monitoring, but | appreciate the big patch they have to cover.”

13
Page 29



Appendix 3 Routes in Penallt

W Lhurg
gre‘ X0 FanmZs

| Potential problem routes in Penallt

¢ 3 ' BRNEN A “\ A,BandC are UCRs
ol 1 w AL .9 . Dis arestricted bywa
Chyreh Hill ' * & 3 ey

Common

") Aisthe route taken by bikers in the
“ first section (up to 3.15) of Hardest
; I - Trail Riding in Soutt

X' Wales - Husaberg FE390

C is ditto for the second section -
| ' residents seem happy to letriders
along here. Not a priority to take
~Hsy/, ; action on therefore.

> D-many complaints about riders
/ along here

B - currently blocked by vegetation
| with no hurry to clear it. Not a priority
.. totake action on.

Route A is the one we wish to focus on. It is shown in more detail below via a screenshot
from the definitive map:-

8‘?‘« Tytha lam »
0;‘%*1.:‘
‘

B )

ok
AB: is known as County Unclassified Road
C48.13. (It has been labelled as a green lane) Tihefavld &

BD: is known as County Unclassified Road
C48.1. (It has been labelled as a green lane).
The section between C and D goes stggply
uphill between ancient stone walls and’is,
heavily eroded 1} e

ABCD: appears as a “promoted path” 0Q§\&e
definitive map. See also “Promoted RouteNo.

ThaEmhs

19” (Redbrook to Penallt) g\

RN \\\_‘ 8

-
N Z 3 e, L) >
1880 map \ = ¢ co?j,mﬂpra,y map%\::w

14
Page 30



The map identifies the section concerned as being a part of visitmonmouthshire’s
Promoted Route No. 19 (Redbrook to Penallt) and is shown as a promoted path on the
definitive map. It comprises County Unclassified Roads C48.1 and C48.13 and has been
in existence for at least 150 years, as shown by the 1880 map.

The owner of Hillside (who also owns the fields
on either side of the section labelled CD) is
concerned not only about the nuisance value of
off-road motorbikes using the route regularly
but, more importantly, the erosion caused by
their use. This is lowering the surface of the
route, exposing numerous boulders and
undermining the foundations of the ancient
stone walls which bound the route. The
photograph shows one instance of the erosion.

The first 3:15 of the video Hardest Green Lanes -
Trail Riding in South Wales are shot along the
route concerned, the remainder is shot in other
UCRs in the Lower Wye Valley area. It is clear

from the comments attached to the video that

the Monmouth area is becoming a mecca for off-
road motorbikes so it seems probable that we will experience an exponential rise in their
use in Penallt, The Narth, Whitebrook etc.

The damage to this track caused by motorbikes has meant that only the hardiest walkers
are tempted to use it and it’s out of the question for use by cyclists now too. In other
words, it’s been ruined for any recreational use other than by off-roaders and will remain
so unless a way can be found of preventing use by off-road motorbikes. This would then
give the chance to repair the surface and make the route useable again for walkers.

15
Page 31


https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gMgy426OztA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gMgy426OztA

Appendix 4 Tintern to Whitelye Track

(referred to as Barbados Lane or public right of way from Tintern to Prices Bridge)

Although this track is not in the TUCC area its use by trail bikes is causing considerable
issues for residents in Whitelye, which is in the TUCC area. Having spoken to local
residents and walked this track | think that there would be significant benefits to the local
area and the Lower Wye Valley tourist area as a whole from closing this track or parts of
itto motorise vehicles. This track is used extensively by motorbike tours from a wide area.
Local residents have reported 5 to 6 groups per day at weekends, particularly in high
season; groups of up to 10 (sometimes more), as well as large groups on other days.

The track is not suitable for motorbikes down most of its length. It is narrow, very
narrow in places, which makes passing motorbikes dangerous for other users. It
is crossed by a stream and the surface is very soft.

Intensive use by motorbikes has eroded the surface of the track in many places
making it much less accessible for other users

The bottom of the track provides access to a couple of properties, the surface is
steep and is being damaged by motorbikes.

The track runs directly behind a number of residences meaning that local
residents are significantly impacted by noise and fumes on a regular basis given
the intensity of the use of this track

The track runs up the side of a valley, and the noise generated by motorbikes
reverberates and amplified around the numerous residences in the valley.
Properties at the top of the track in Whitelye are also significantly impacted by
noise.

A local business whose tourist offering is based on the peace and quiet and
beauty of the Wye Valley National Landscape is significantly impacted by the
noise of motorbikes and dangers posed to visitors

Other potential users of the track are put off from using it because of the likelihood
of encountering large groups of motorbikes travelling fast up or down the track
with no safe passing places and with the associated noise and fumes. This is a
danger to families, horses and dogs who would otherwise enjoy using this track.

The use of this track takes motorbikes up from Tintern into the woodland above
Tintern and encourages them onto the forest tracks and footpaths where they are
not legally allowed to go. There have been many issues raised by local residents
about this, but it very difficult for the authorities to police or enforce in this rural
area. Closing all or part of this track to motorised vehicles would discourage
motorbikes from travelling to this quiet corner of the Wye Valley and we think
would go a long way to resolving some of these issues and conflict, without the
need for extra policing or enforcement.

There are concerns about the impact on wildlife and the landscape close to the
track with so much use by motorbikes in terms of noise, vibration, erosion, loss of
habitat and fumes.

16
Page 32



e The trackis an old route and would provide a wonderful way for visitors to Tintern
to access wider walking routes and views in the areas above Tintern and beyond,
if it was safe for particularly walkers to use.

The video (link below) best shows the impact of motorbike groups and the route that the
track takes past residence s and through the woodland.

https/www.youtube.com/watch?v=r5JmS0CfAw

17
Page 33


file:///C:/Users/david/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/A2HCDE0Y/https/www.youtube.com/watch%3fv=r5JmS0CfAw

Map of location

o NI O A B
5:2 %b"!’z“ﬁ}y\} \"Q‘\‘\‘%@ A
() /, \“& | A . \' D ‘;‘) \m?__%_ Vi
AL el \\\\“'/ s . 3 )
¥ 4\ f’ \\. /- : @
8 K\t ,ﬁood \/ f— e T
f/ -..;‘ | &.-‘;: \! ‘ 3 ,' ‘ :
\" 2y dy Thee ".d-“” ; . : .:

' ¢ o : "
AR ouse’, X
‘ “‘}'-‘ "Hl 2. “" -
¢ ¢ RS A A ,,‘ ,%‘. S ‘)
'Vam-Y'QQr( s Bade ‘H".n {5 : :‘.1 Z
Al :":S_V:I?o:u' AR B

3 s I \" ~
} \¥ 4
43 o0

NRTE RS e s o
’Q&» ", 4 ,': ' Sﬁk\ = \ M Activities ind Routs
e FJGuniisk Zad
T =NGre LR
N ‘ N

| ]} 1%/ §Ze




	Agenda
	3 Cadarnhau a llofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod Fforwm Mynediad Lleol Sir Fynwy ar 9fed Medi 2025 (wedi eu hatodi)
	Minutes

	5 Diweddariad gan Reolwyr, Cyngor Sir Fynwy, I ystyried adnoddau ar gyfer mynediad i gefn gwlad (Colette Bosley, Rheolwr Cefn Gwlad, Cyrchfannau, Amgylchedd.)
	8 Diweddariad Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru er gwybodaeth (Sarah Tindal, Uwch Swyddog Pobl a Lleoedd, De-ddwyrain Cymru / Bob Campbell Uwch Swyddog Rheoli Tir, De-ddwyrain Cymru)
	9 Cwestiynau cyfraniad ysgrifenedig FfMLl.
	2026-02 TreadLightly courses feedback request
	2025-04 Trellech United Community Council letter to National landscape


